IN THE SUPREME COURT	' OF	FLORI
----------------------	------	-------

)

)

)

JOHNNIE C. BOUIE, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

JAN 9 1989

SID J. WHITE

D

	CLERK, SUPREME COURT	
	By	
CASE	NO. 72, 20 abuty Clerk	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32014 904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 19, 1984, the state (Appellee) filed an information charging Johnnie C. Bouie, Jr. (Appellant) with the second-degree murder of Barbara Lynne Smith. (R929) On October 15, 1984, the Fall Term Grand Jury in and for Volusia County, Florida, indicted Bouie for the first-degree murder of Barbara L. Smith. (R931) Bouie filed a pro <u>se</u> Demand for Discovery which was later followed by a similar demand from Bouie's counsel. (R932-934) The state filed an answer on November 5, 1984. (R935-937)

This cause was originally tried in June of 1987. That trial ended in a mistrial after the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict. (R1007,1018-1032,1049-1050) The state sought and received a second indictment on November 4, 1987. (R1069) This cause proceeded to a jury trial on January 25, 27, 28, and 29, 1988 before the Honorable Kim C. Hammond. Following jury

selection and prior to the jury being sworn, the state revealed that their investigators had obtained information indicating that Bouie made incriminating statements to another inmate in the holding cell earlier that week. At that point, defense counsel strenuously objected to continuing the trial. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial and, short of that, requested a continuance to allow time for an investigation of this new evidence. The trial court refused to grant either the motion for mistrial or the motion to continue. (R266,282-301) When the state announced its intention to use the testimony of Albert Lee Jones (Bobby Edwards), the inmate in question, defense counsel again objected and sought a continuance. The defense also sought to preclude the testimony of Mr. Edwards. The trial court denied the motion to preclude the testimony, denied the motion for continuance, and denied the motion for mistrial. (R546-574) Defense counsel also made an oral motion to withdraw based on an ethical conflict of interest. After a brief inquiry into the circumstances, the trial court denied the motion to withdraw. (R574-575) The trial court allowed the defense to register a standing motion for mistrial as to this issue. (R575-576)

During the testimony of Sergeant Klepper, defense counsel objected to the introduction of certain photographs as cumulative and duplicative. The trial court overruled the objection and allowed the evidence. (R368-374) The trial court also overruled defense counsel's objection to David Bayer's use of the term "consistent" when referring to blood comparisons. (R498-499)

- 2 -

At the conclusion of the state's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal arguing that the evidence was insufficient to exclude the reasonable hypothesis of innocence contained in Bouie's statement to police. Appellant also renewed the previously made motion for mistrial based on the testimony of Bobby Edwards. The trial court denied both motions. (R680-681)

The defense presented the testimony of several witnesses. Additionally, Johnnie Bouie testified in his own defense. (R684-727,745-773) Defense counsel renewed the motions for judgment of acquittal and for mistrial after presentation of all of the evidence. The trial court denied both motions once again. (R846) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a verdict of guilty as charged of first-degree murder. (R864-871,1109)

A penalty phase was conducted on February 2, 1988. (R875-927) The trial court allowed the state to introduce certified copies of two misdemeanor convictions. The trial court took judicial notice of these convictions over defense objection. (R876-877) Other than these two misdemeanor convictions, the state relied on the evidence presented at the guilt phase. Appellant presented the testimony of four family members in mitigation. Following deliberations, the jury returned with a nine to three recommendation that the court impose the death penalty. (R919-924,1112)

On March 31, 1988, Johnnie Bouie appeared for sentencing. The trial court adjudicated Bouie guilty and sentenced him to death. (R1113-1115,1129-1134) The trial court failed to file

- 3 -

any written findings of fact in support of the death sentence. The trial court also failed to orally state any findings at the sentencing hearing. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on April 15, 1988. (R1118)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

Johnnie Bouie first met Barbara Smith in August of 1983 when she expressed interest in buying an automobile part that Bouie was selling. Bouie next encountered Smith on September 3, 1984 in Orlando where Smith rented a room from Bouie's uncle. When Smith learned that Bouie had a trip to Daytona planned that weekend, she offered him ten dollars for a ride to her mother's house in Ormond by the Sea. They left Orlando shortly before 9 P.M. that evening traveling east on Interstate 4, then east on Highway 92, before turning onto Eleventh Street. On Eleventh, Bouie felt the rear of his car swerve. He pulled over and noticed that his tire was almost completely flat. As he was changing the tire, the jack broke. He decided to turn around and head back toward Highway 92 hoping to find an open service station. While turning the car around, the disabled tire fell off since Bouie had failed to retighten the lug nuts. Three of the studs broke completely off the wheel. (R745-752)

Robert McKitrack was heading east on the Eleventh Street extension in Daytona Beach, Florida. It was approximately 10:50 P.M. and McKitrack was running late for his shift at the water plant. (R305-306) The road was dark with no lights, houses, or other cars. As he rounded a curve, McKitrack noticed a car parked on the side of the road. McKitrack noticed a woman standing beside the car waving some type of rag. (R306-307) Despite his tardiness, McKitrack stopped his car and backed up to see if he could be of assistance. While the woman stayed by the

- 5 -

disabled car, a black male approached McKitrack. McKitrack identified the man as Johnnie Bouie, the Appellant. (R306-307,311) Bouie explained that his car had a flat tire. The men discussed pushing the car so that it was completely out of the roadway. McKitrack believed his own jack was too small to use on Bouie's Pontiac. Although Bouie wanted McKitrack's help in pushing the car or the use of his jack, McKitrack explained that he was late for work. He told Bouie that he would clock in at work and either come back or send help. (R306-307) Throughout this discussion, the woman waited calmly by Bouie's automobile. (R311) Once McKitrack reached the water plant, he called the police and reported the situation. (R307,313)

Susan Sterthouse was also driving east on Eleventh Street that evening. She was headed for home sometime between 11:15 and 11:30 P.M.. She noticed a car on the side of the road. Sterthouse saw a woman wearing pants and a blouse standing on the roof of the car. Sterthouse heard the woman screaming. The woman appeared to be flailing a white object toward a man in dark clothing. Sterthouse could not determine the race of the man. The man wore a t-shirt and jeans and stood next to the car. Sterthouse only saw the man from the rear. It appeared as if he was simply standing there with his hands folded in front of him. Sterthouse slowed down but decided against returning to the scene. (R316-321)Sterthouse apparently did not notify the authorities.

Bouie returned to his car pondering his predicament. It was at that point that Barbara Smith began making amorous

– б –

advances. The couple engaged in some spirited and lustful physical activity culminating in Bouie passionately biting Smith. Bouie suggested that they head for more comfortable accomodations and the couple began walking up the road. (R752-753)

They were barely twenty feet from the car when another automobile stopped on the roadside. Bouie began walking toward the car believing that help had finally arrived. Two white males got out of the car and one of the men began administering a beating to Barbara Smith. As he beat her, he called her a "nigger lover." (R753) The other stranger headed toward Bouie acting and talking in a threatening manner. Bouie, who had no weapons to defend himself, became frightened and ran into the woods. (R753-754)

Thinking that his assailants were close behind, Bouie stumbled and fell as he made his way deep into the surrounding wooded area. He became disoriented and lost all sense of direction. Bouie thought he heard cars driving by and attempted to walk in that direction. When the bushes became so thick that he could not walk, he stopped and rested. He fell asleep and woke up the next morning. In the daylight, Bouie could see narrow trails through the woods. He followed them out to the road where he saw a sheriff's car as well as several other vehicles. The police stopped Bouie as he walked along the road. Bouie attempted to tell the deputy what had happened the night before, but the police insisted in transporting Bouie for questioning. (R754-756)

At the station, Bouie waived his constitutional rights and agreed to answer questions. Corporal Hudson accused Bouie of murdering Barbara Smith. Bouie immediately and vehemently denied

- 7 -

hurting Smith and explained the entire chain of events that led to his spending the previous night in the woods. At Hudson's request, Bouie agreed to submit to a polygraph. When the appointed hour arrived, Hudson told Bouie that they had sufficient evidence without a polygraph. At that point, Hudson arrested Bouie for the first-degree murder of Barbara Smith. (R756-758)

Law enforcement agencies arrived at the crime scene at approximately 11:30 P.M. They found a 1974 Pontiac on the side of the road. Police saw no other cars or people in the vicinity. The officers observed what appeared to be blood on the driver's door and the hood of the car. The right rear tire had been removed and was found approximately 100 feet north of the car. Approximately 70 feet northeast of the car on the opposite side of the road, Deputy Paige found a brassiere saturated with what appeared to be blood. (R322-345) Police also observed quite a bit of blood on the asphalt road. (R341-342)

Police called in a tracking dog and used the bra as a scent indicator. The dog led police into the heavily wooded area across the street from the disabled car. The dog went underneath a barbed wire fence and found the body of a white female approximately forty feet into the woods. (R347-355) The police identified the victim as Barbara Smith. (R360-361) Smith's body was partially nude (i.e. no top, no pants, and underwear partially pulled down.) (R365-374) A subsequent autopsy revealed that Barbara Smith died of multiple stab wounds to the chest resulting in exsanguination. (R402,409) Dr. Botting, the medical examiner, also found certain defensive wounds indicating that Smith

- 8 -

struggled with her attacker. (R402-403,411) Dr. Botting estimated the time of death to be around 11:30 P.M. on September 3, 1984. (R413)

The next morning law enforcement officers resumed processing of the crime scene. Deputies spotted Johnnie Bouie walking along the road toward the water plant. (R423-428, 449-450) Bouie told the officers his name, explained that he had car problems, and had been forced to spend the night in the woods. Bouie was extremely cooperative and polite in dealing with the police. His disheveled appearance lended credence to his explanation. (R424-427) Police transported Bouie to the office of the Criminal Investigation Division. (R425)

Investigator David W. Hudson of the Volusia County Sheriff's office interviewed Johnnie Bouie at the office of the Criminal Investigation Division. Bouie agreed to waive his constitutional rights. Bouie explained that he had met Barbara Smith in Orlando at a boarding house belonging to Bouie's uncle. She offered Bouie ten dollars for a ride to her mother's home in Ormond by the Sea. Once the pair entered Volusia County, Bouie noticed that his right rear tire was leaking badly. Following Smith's directions, Bouie turned around on Eleventh Street and headed back to Highway 92 hoping to find an open service station. When Bouie turned the car around, the tire fell off. While Bouie worked on the car, a water plant worker stopped by briefly. After he left, two white males in a Buick or Oldsmobile stopped next to Bouie's car. The men began to administer a physical beating to Barbara Smith who was standing nearby. A fearful

- 9 -

Johnny Bouie ran into the woods where he became disoriented. He spent that night in the woods. Bouie told Investigator Hudson that he cut his finger on the barbed wire fence as he vaulted over it. Bouie described the assailants to Hudson. One was approximately six feet tall, **200** pounds with no facial hair. The other man was about five feet seven inches and wore blue jeans. Bouie later added that one had a beard. (R626-636)

Blood found inside the pocket of a pair of jeans found next to Smith's body was consistent with Bouie's blood but inconsistent with Smith's. (R497-498) It was also consistent with 11.5% of the general population (over 26 million people). (R505-511) Blood on the bra found at the scene was consistent with Smith's blood and inconsistent with Bouie's blood. (R500) Some of the blood on the blouse found at the scene could have come from Johnny Bouie's circulatory system and could not have been from Smith. (R500-501) It could also have come from 10.5% of the general population (more than 24 million folks). (R505-511) Investigators found human blood on Smith's abdomen that was inconsistent with Smith's blood type but consistent with Bouie's. (R502-503) It was also consistent with 4.5% of the general population (over 10 million people). (R505-511) The serologist also examined blood samples from various parts of Bouie's car. (R505-509) Blood from the hood of the car and from the rear window was consistent with Bouie's (and 2% of the general population - close to 5 million people) and inconsistent with Smith's blood type. (R505-511) Tests on the blood found on the roof of the car on the driver's side led to inconclusive

- 10 -

results. State's exhibit 17-E (21-C) containing a latent fingerprint lifted from a blood stain on the automobile was consistent with Bouie's blood (and 4.5% of the general population) and inconsistent with Smith's. (R505-511) The serologist emphasized that consistency did not result in an identical match. Blood evidence is not like fingerprint or signature-type evidence. (R512-516)

The latent fingerprint lifted from the blood stain on the car matched the left middle finger of Johnnie Bouie. (R520-526) Experts were unable to determine whether or not the fingerprint was placed on the car door before or after the blood was placed there. (R531-533)

A dentist and a forensic odontologist found that a bite mark on Smith's arm matched the bite mark of Johnnie Bouie. (R536-546,642-680) One of the dentists opined that Bouie inflicted the bite while he and Smith were face-to-face in a prone position. (R663-665) The dentist also concluded that Bouie bit Smith while he was in an agitated condition, i.e., an excited emotional state although not necessarily in anger. (R677-678)

The state produced the testimony of Albert Lee Jones a/k/a Bobby Louis Edwards, a/k/a Tim Lewis $\frac{1}{2}$, who was one of many inmates in the holding cell with Johnnie Bouie on the day that jury selection for Bouie's trial began. Edwards was also going to court that day where he was sentenced to five years in

^{1/} Although Albert Lee Jones was apparently this witness' legal name, he was usually referred to as Bobby Edwards which is the name Appellant will use in this brief.

prison after pleading to an outstanding escape charge. (R580-581) Edwards testified that he and Bouie began talking in the holding cell and Bouie proceeded to tell Edwards about how he had murdered Barbara Smith after she refused his sexual advances. Bouie supposedly told Edwards that, after killing Smith, he removed a tire and concocted a story involving two white males chasing him from the scene. This scenario placed blame for Smith's murder on the two strangers. (R581-600) Many of the details that Edwards testified Bouie mentioned did not match the state's theory of the (R305-309,316-319,331-337,347-352,581) Edwards claimed that case. the only benefit that he received from the state for his testimony against Bouie was the state's promise to protect him in prison. (R586-587) Edwards did admit to previous convictions for escape, bank robbery, burglary and multiple counts of grand theft dealing with numerous worthless checks. (R586,608-609) Edwards admitted that he could be paroled at any time on the escape sentence but would probably not be released due to a seventeen year quideline sentence out of Pinellas County.

(R612-614)

Four inmates who were also in the holding cell with Johnnie Bouie and Bobby Edwards described the physical set-up of that cell. The general concensus was that it would be extremely difficult if not impossible for two inmates to converse without others hearing their conversation. (R684-687) Donald Hartman was handcuffed to Edwards. Hartman testified that it was Edwards who was the blabbermouth that day in the holding cell talking to anyone who would listen. Hartman swore that Bouie "never, never"

- 12 -

talked to Edwards that day. (R686,700-701) Timothy McFarland agreed with Hartman. (R723-725) Other inmates who were present confirmed that Edwards was the talkative one and that Bouie never confessed to anyone. (R691-696) In contrast to Edwards' claims, two inmates testified that Bouie repeatedly proclaimed his innocence. (R695, 723-725) One inmate testified that an investigator for the state threatened him in an attempt to solicit damaging testimony against Johnny Bouie. (R701-703)

PENALTY PHASE

The state introduced evidence of two misdemeanor convictions. Bouie had a 1974 Volusia County conviction for attempting to carry a concealed weapon. He also apparently had a 1982 Orange County misdemeanor conviction for carrying a concealed weapon, to wit: a knife. (R876-877,1100-1101) Aside from the introduction of this evidence, the state relied on the evidence presented at the guilt phase. (R877)

Bouie presented testimony of four witnesses at the penalty phase. (R877-892) Bouie lived with his uncle during part of his youth. Bouie also worked for his uncle at night. He was always a good worker and never caused any problems at all. While his uncle doubted Bouie's guilt, he thought Bouie to be a likely candidate for rehabilitation. (R877-881)

Bouie never gave his father and namesake any problems as a youngster. Johnnie always tried to help his family when they were in need. He also got along well with his fellow man and went out of his way to help others. (R882-885) Bouie was

- 13 -

also a dependable husband who provided for his wife and two sons. He is a good and loving father who would be deeply missed by his family and friends. (R886-888) Bouie's parents and wife also expressed great doubt as to his guilt. (R885,888,891) Bouie's mother called him "the best" as a son. (R890) His mother raised him with a religious background and they frequently prayed together. (R889-890) She never saw him be cruel to anything or anyone. (R891) Bouie was evidently such a good samaritan that his mother sometimes became jealous of his attention to others. (R891)

Bouie served his country honorably after he was drafted into the army in 1979. He did a fourteenth month tour in Korea and received an honorable discharge. (R759,883) After completing his primary and secondary education, Bouie completed 1246 hours of drafting at Orlando Vocational School. He also had one semester of accounting at Jones College. (R759)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT I</u>: The trial court has yet to enter written findings of fact in upport of the death sentence imposed. The trial court also failed to orally recite any explanation of the various aggravating and mitigating circumstances that the court either did or did not find applicable. Section 921.141(3), Florida Statutes (1987) requires a sentence of life imprisonment where the court fails to support a death sentence by specific written findings of fact. <u>Van Royal v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1986) and its progeny mandate a reduction of Bouie's death sentence to a sentence of life imprisonment.

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