IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

JOHNNIE C. BOUIE, JR.

Appellant,

MAR 28 1989 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By. Deputy clerk

vs.

CASE NO. 72,278

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR # 618550 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

Robert McKitrack testified that he saw appellant and the victim as he was on his way to work at the water plant. (He currently works at the post office.) The victim had five stab wounds, four of which were deep in the chest wall. The victim had other wounds produced by an instrument without a cutting edge, as well as defensive wounds, which indicated a struggle. There was a trial of blood as well as a trial of the victim's clothes and belongings, and the victim's body was found in the woods. Appellant testified that two white males saw him with the victim and chased him into the woods.

Other evidence presented by the state included shoe impressions, all similar, which were cast near the body and at a gate up the road from where appellant's car was found. The shoe impressions taken from near the body were going in a direction toward the body, and were similar to others that went up through to where the body was and those in the grassy area by the body. The shoe impression near the gate was similar to the tennis shoe tracks that Deputy Ellinor and his tracking dog followed through the area. Appellant's shoes could have left all of the impressions, based on size, shape, manufacturer's tread design, manufacturer's size, and the wear pattern.

A tracking dog was started from a point upwind of the scene, so that he would be able to discriminate scents. The dog tracked due east, and ended up following tennis shoe tracks throughout the area. When returned to the original point and ordered to track west, the dog went straight to where the victim's body was found. Blood consistent with appellant's was found on the inside pocket of the victim's jeans, on the victim's blouse, "dropped" on the victim's body, on the victim's purse, on the hood of the car, on the rear window of the car, and on the driver's door of the car.

Just as important as what the evidence demonstrated is what the evidence did not show. When appellant first encountered the police, he said he had car problems the night before, but did not say that a woman had been with him and that he had also had problems with two white men. Appellant initially told the police he had no physical contact with the victim, though the bite mark on her arm was a perfect match with appellant's teeth. Appellant could hear cars on the road when he was in the woods, but never heard any noise from the emergency vehicles or the investigation, nor saw any lights from those vehicles. Appellant's description of the alleged attackers changed during the interrogation.

Contrary to appellant's assertion, the testimony of a passing motorist does not support his version of events. Ms.

- 33 -

Sterthouse saw a screaming woman on the roof of the car, flailing a white object at a man standing next to the car. The woman's screams really bothered her. Although Sterthouse could not specifically describe the individual, aside from a comparison of his height to the car and that he was wearing dark clothes (which matched appellant), she did specifically testify that she saw only one man, and no other people or vehicles in the area, and she passed no other vehicles as she proceeded down Eleventh Street. Nor does appellant's assertion that the state never proved he had any bloodstains on his clothing support his version of events. Appellant omits the fact that his shirt, like the murder weapon, was never found.

Appellant further argues that at the very least, the state failed to prove premeditation, as the evidence is consistent with the occurrence of an argument resulting in a killing in the heat of passion. This argument is somewhat inconsistent with appellant's previous version of events, and appellee respectfully suggests that since the evidence was consistent with a killing, it was clearly sufficient for the jury to infer premeditation. As this court has stated:

> If the evidence shows that the accused had ample time to form a purpose to kill the deceased and for the mind of the killer to become fully conscious of his own design, it will be deemed sufficient in point of time in which to enable the killer to form a premeditated design to kill. <u>Green v. State</u>, 93 Fla. 1076, 113 So. 121, 122 (1927). Where a person strikes another with а

deadly weapon and inflicts a mortal wound, the very act of striking such person with such weapon in sufficient such manner is to warrant a jury in finding that the person striking the blow intended the result which followed. See, <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 104 Fla. 520, 140 So. 309, 310 (1932). <u>Buford v.</u> 949 State, 403 So.2d 943, (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1163, 1037, 71 L.Ed.2d 319 102 S.Ct. (1982). Premeditation, often being impossible to prove by direct testimony, may be inferred from the circumstances surrounding the Campbell v. State, 227 homicide. 873 (Fla. 1969), <u>petition</u> So.2d <u>dismissed</u>, 400 U.S. 801, 91 S.Ct. 7, 27 L.Ed.2d 33 (1970); <u>Dawson v.</u> State, 139 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1962).

Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170, 1173-4 (Fla. 1985).

The evidence in the instant case reveals the victim was beaten about the face, neck and upper chest, was stabbed in the back with substantial force, and stabbed in the neck, as she attempted to defend herself. The victim ran from appellant, leaving a trial of blood and clothes. As the victim lay dying after being dragged into the woods, her pants were removed, and she suffered one last indignity, as appellant viciously bit her she feebly attempted to pull away. This record contains as sufficient evidence from which the jury could conclude that appellant murdered Barbara Smith in a premeditated manner. As such, the trial court properly denied appellant's motions for judgment of acquittal. That evidence was also sufficient for the jury to determine that it excluded appellant's hypothesis of innocence. Appellant's conviction must be affirmed.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PERMITTED STATE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE OF THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR CONVICTIONS DURING THE PENALTY PHASE WHERE APPELLANT RELIED ON THE MITIGATING FACTOR OF NO SIGNIFICANT PRTOR CRIMINAL ACTIVITY.

At the commencement of the penalty phase, the state asked the trial court to take judicial notice of appellant's two prior misdemeanor convictions (R 876-77). One was for attempting to carry a concealed weapon, which occurred in October, 1970, and the other was for carrying a concealed weapon, which occurred in February, 1982. The trial court asked defense counsel if he had any objection and defense counsel replied, "They haven't got a basis for it, Your Honor" (R 877). The trial court admitted the evidence of the prior convictions.

Appellant now contends that the trial court erred in admitting this evidence, as it was evidence of a non-statutory aggravating factor; it fails as a matter of law to rebut the mitigating circumstance of no significant prior criminal history, as one was remote in time and is for a non-existent offense, and; that the state failed to produce a certified copy of the judgment and sentence on the carrying a concealed weapon conviction, instead producing just a disposition sheet. Appellee first contends that these arguments have been waived, as there was no such objection or argument below. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Even if this court determines that these arguments have somehow been preserved, appellee submits they are without merit.

- 36 -

The general rule is that when the defendant waives reliance on the mitigating factor of no significant prior criminal activity, the state cannot introduce evidence of prior crimes. <u>Maqqard v. State</u>, **399** So.2d **973** (Fla. **1981).** The record demonstrates that appellant never waived reliance on this mitigating factor, and the jury was in fact instructed that it could consider this factor in mitigation (R **915).** Consequently, appellant's reliance on <u>Maqqard</u> and similar cases is misplaced.

Appellant also contends that the evidence failed as a matter law because the attempt to carry a concealed firearm of conviction occurred almost thirty years ago, and no such crime exists. Appellee notes that this conviction occurred in 1970, which is nowhere near thirty years ago, particularly since it must be considered in relation to the instant offense, which occurred in 1984. Further, appellant never previously attacked this conviction on the basis of it being a non-existent offense, and should not be permitted to bootstrap such attack on to the instant appeal. Finally, since appellant has never claimed he was not convicted of the other offense, the fact that the state produced a disposition sheet, signed by appellant, as opposed to a certified copy of the judgment and sentence, is irrelevant.

Appellee would also point out that in terms of the jury's consideration of this evidence, it relates to an issue of fact, not law. The jury was instructed that it could consider in mitigation that appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity, and that it should consider all the evidence tending to establish such mitigating circumstance. As this court has noted in regard to this circumstance:

- 37 -

As to what is significant criminal activity, an average man can easily look at a defendant's record, weigh traffic offenses on the one hand and armed robberies on the other, and determine which represents Also, the less criminal significant activity. activity on the defendant's record, the more consideration should be afforded this mitigating circumstance.

<u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973). Consequently, the jurors should be provided with all of the relevant facts to assist them in making this determination. It naturally follows that in considering all the facts, the jurors were also free to find that this evidence actually established this mitigating factor. Had the trial court not admitted the evidence, it would have usurped the jury's fact-finding role in regard to this factor.

Even if this court determines that these arguments have been preserved and the trial court erred in admitting evidence of the prior convictions, appellant has failed to demonstrate prejudice. Cf. <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. **1987**). Appellant's argument, that these convictions were particularly prejudicial because the victim was stabbed to death and one of the convictions involved carrying a knife, is simply not logical. Had the convictions been introduced during the guilt phase, this argument might have some merit. However, the jury had already convicted appellant of the stabbing death of Barbara Smith, thus already concluding that a knife was his weapon of choice. Appellee also notes that along these lines, it is somewhat inconsistent for appellant to argue the significant impact these convictions may have had upon the jury, yet contend that they were not sufficient to rebut the mitigating circumstance of no significant prior criminal history. Appellee submits that just as a trial court may consider the facts giving rise to a prior conviction, or the severity as well as number of prior offenses, so too may the nature of those prior offenses be considered in determining the significance of a defendant's prior criminal history. <u>See</u>, Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1983); <u>Perry</u> v. State, 522 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1988). Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of his prior convictions.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE VICTIM'S BODY THAT HAD BEEN TAKEN AT THE CRIME SCENE.

During the testimony of Sergeant Klepper, the state presented six photographs of the victim's body that Klepper had taken at the crime scene. Appellant objected to the similar nature of photographs D and G, E and B, and F and A (R 368-9). He also objected to the total number of photographs, recognizing that the state was entitled to show some photographs, but arguing that the prejudice resulting from the total number offered by the state outweighed their probative value (R 369). Appellant raises the same arguments on appeal, contending that he is entitled to a new trial not tainted by this prejudicial, inflammatory evidence.

Those whose work products are murdered human beings can generally expect to be ,confronted with photographs of their accomplishments. <u>Henderson v. State</u>, **463** So.2d **196** (Fla. **1985**). The admission of photographic evidence is within the' trial court's discretion and should not be disturbed unless a clear abuse is shown. <u>Patterson v. State</u>, 513 So.2d **1260** (Fla. **1987**). The test for admissibility is relevance. Id. The record supports the trial court's determination, as the photographs are not duplicative, and were relevant to show the location of the body, the manner in which it was (un)clothed, the nature of the surrounding area, other objects in relationship to the body, as well as the nature of the wounds.

- 40 -

Exhibits D and G show the body from essentially the same angle, with D being a much closer shot. D shows the wounds to the torso and neck area, while G the body in relation to the surrounding area and the nature of the area (R 1084). Exhibits A and F were both taken at the feet of the body, and A is the closer shot. A shows how the victim's underpants were pulled down, while F shows where the victim's jeans were in relation to the body (R 1083-4). Exhibit E was taken at the head of the body angling, straight down, and shows a bit of the surrounding area, while B was taken at the head of the body from the left side, and shows that the body was lying in a small clearing (R 1083-4).

Given the nature of the subject, the photographs were not unnecessarily gruesome or "shocking in nature." It should also be noted that the photographs were taken with an instamatic camera, at night, with the aid of a flashbulb, and had not even been enlarged (R 373, 379). All of the photographs were relevant, and appellant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting them into evidence.

POINT VI

APPELLANT HAS WAIVED APPELLATE REVIEW OF THE ISSUE OF DIMINISHING THE RULE OF THE JURY ΤN THE SENTENCING PROCESS BY FAILURE TO OBJECT BELOW.

Appellant contends that the state and the trial court diminished the responsibility of the jury's role in the sentencing process, contrary to Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). Appellant points to statements made by the prosecutor and the trial court during voir dire, closing argument at the penalty phase, and the standard penalty phase jury instructions. The record demonstrates that there was no objection to any of these statements or instructions, so the issue has been waived and is not properly before this court. Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988) (failure to object to jury instructions concerning respective roles of judge and jury in sentencing waived issue for appellate review); Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1988) (issue not properly before this court where defense counsel failed to object to prosecutor's comments during voir dire).

In light of the United States Supreme Court's recent decision in <u>Harris v. Reed</u>, U.S. ___, 109 S.Ct. 1038, L.Ed.2d (1989), appellee would ask this court to exclusively and expressly apply the procedural bar to this claim, particularly since <u>Caldwell</u>, which was decided in 1985, was clearly available to defense counsel at the time of trial. Alternatively, appellee would point out that this court has found

- 42 -

that the standard jury instruction does not provide the jury with erroneous information that denigrates its role. <u>Banda v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1988). In addition, this court has found that <u>Caldwell</u>, which addressed the denigration of the jury as <u>sentencer</u>, is clearly distinguishable from the law in Florida, where the judge is the sentencing authority and the jury's role is merely advisory. <u>Grossman</u>, <u>supra</u> (emphasis supplied).

POINT VII

THE FLORIDA CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellee would first note that appellant's summary constitutionality of Florida's capital challenges to the sentencing statute were never raised in the trial court, thus are not preserved for appellate review. See e.g., Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984). Further, appellant concedes that his boilerplate list of challenges has been repeatedly rejected. This point is repeated virtually word-for-word in every death penalty case in this appellate division, including, e.g., Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890, 894-5 (Fla. 1984), where these "grab bag" claims were rejected. Appellee would also add that irrespective of any disparities or proportionality adjustments made over time, appellant's crime is one for which the death penalty is now and will always be appropriate.

CONCLUSION

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